



Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

Examination and Study Regulations of the University of Stuttgart for the internationally oriented Master's Degree Program PHYSICS

July 7, 2014

On the basis of § 34 Para 1 Sentence 3 of the Landeshochschulgesetz (law on higher education in Baden-Württemberg) dated January 1, 2005 (GBI. 2005 p. 1), last amended by the law dated July 10, 2012 (GBI. p. 457), the Senate of the University of Stuttgart decided on February 12, 2014 on the study and exam regulations below for the master's degree program in Physics.

The Rector of the University of Stuttgart agreed on this statute on July 7, 2014 in accordance with § 34 (1) Sentence 3 of the Landeshochschulgesetz, reference number 7831.175-P-01.

Table of contents

I. General

- § 1 Purpose of the examination
- § 2 Master's degree
- § 3 Credit point system and modules
- § 4 Program structure, standard period of study, credits
- § 5 Program and exam structure
- § 6 Examination deadlines
- § 7 Examination Committee
- § 8 Examiners and assessors
- § 9 General admission requirements
- § 10 Module examinations, academic achievements and examinations
- § 11 Course language
- § 12 Academic achievements and course-related examinations
- § 13 Oral examinations
- § 14 Written examinations
- § 15 Assessment of academic achievements and examinations, module grades
- § 16 Absence, withdrawal, deception, breach of regulations
- § 17 Passing and failing
- § 18 Repeating examinations
- § 19 Recognition of periods of study, academic achievements and examinations





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

II.Master's examination

- § 20 Purpose of the master's examination
- § 21 Type and scope of master's examination
- § 22 Master's thesis
- § 23 Calculation of overall grade and certificate
- § 24 Higher-education degree and master's degree certificate

III. Final provisions

- § 25 Inspection of examination files
- § 26 Invalidity of an examination
- § 27 Entry into force and interim regulation Annex: Overview of module examinations.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

Preamble

The study and exam regulations for the master's degree program in Physics describes the structure of the university studies and the organization of examinations. It represents the regulatory framework and the legal basis for administering study courses consistently and evaluating academic achievements and examinations. It is therefore aimed both at students and examiners as well as the relevant organs of the University of Stuttgart.

I. General

§ 1 Purpose of the examination

The master's examination is an additional degree in a student's university studies which qualifies them for a profession. The master's examination should determine whether the student has acquired the ability to independently deal with and develop scientific issues in their master's subject using relevant methods, and to apply them in complex situations beyond the aims of their bachelor's degree program.

§ 2 Master's degree

Upon passing the master's examination, the University of Stuttgart awards the academic title "Master of Science" ("M.Sc.").

§ 3 Credit point system and modules

- (1) Students must earn credits during the course of their university studies. They are a quantitative measure of the amount of time students spend on their university studies. On average, 30 credits are to be earned per semester. This corresponds to about 900 hours of work. Earning credits requires successfully taking part in courses or completing certain academic achievements, and is subject to passing the respective module examinations or sub-module examinations.
- (2) The university studies are divided into modules, for which a certain amount of credits are awarded after passing the module examinations or the sub-module examinations. The modules include related courses, and generally last one but sometimes a maximum of two semesters.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

§ 4 Program structure, standard period of study, credits

- (1) The standard period of study is four semesters. This includes the module examinations as well as the master's thesis.
- (2) The total number of credits required to be awarded a master's degree is 120. Of this number, 30 credits are for the master's thesis and 90 for academic achievements and examinations throughout the university studies.
- (3) Credits can only be earned through academic achievements and examinations which have been assessed as at least being "satisfactory" or "participated successfully". The distribution of credits to the individual modules and events in the compulsory elective and elective subject area is stipulated in the annex to this regulation.

§ 5 Program and exam structure

- (1) The master's examination consists of module examinations throughout the course and a master's thesis. The courses cover all four semesters.
- (2) The compulsory modules and electives to be taken individually are stipulated in the annex to these exam regulations.

§ 6 Examination deadlines

- (1) The right to admission to examination for the master's degree program in Physics will lapse if the master's examination is not passed within eight semesters, unless the candidate is not responsible for the delay. The decision is made by the Examination Committee at the request of the candidate.
- (2) Expectant mothers may exempt themselves from examinations in the last six weeks of their pregnancy unless they have explicitly declared themselves to be fit. This declaration must be submitted to the Head of the Examination Committee in writing and can be revoked at any time. New mothers may not sit examinations until eight weeks after giving birth. This period shall be extended to twelve weeks for mothers having given birth prematurely or in the case of multiple births, or in the event of giving birth prematurely also by the period which could not be used according to Sentence 1. In the event of the death of a child, the mother can take examinations before the end of this period if she explicitly requests to do so providing this is not contradicted by the medical certificate. She is entitled to withdraw this declaration to the Head of the Examination Committee at any time.
- (3) Students with dependent children under eight years old living in the same household are entitled to complete certain academic achievements and examinations after the relevant deadlines. The decision to extend the deadline is





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

made by the chair of the Examination Committee at the request of the candidate. Deadlines for retaking examinations can only be extended by a maximum of two semesters. The period of time for completing a master's thesis can only be extended within the framework of the deadline in accordance with § 22 Para 5. The authorization expires with the end of the semester in which the requirements named in Sentence 1 were waived. The deadline in Para 1 may be extended by a maximum of six semesters per child, providing the requirements listed in Sentence 1 have been present throughout this period. Otherwise, the authorization shall expire no later than the end of the semester in which the child turns eight years old. Students must provide the relevant evidence. Students are also obliged to disclose any changes to the requirements at the first opportunity.

- (4) A student who is still able to study but who is not in a position to regularly attend courses or complete their academic work as expected due to a long-term illness or a permanent physical disability is entitled to complete certain academic achievements and examinations after the deadlines set in the exam regulations. The decision to extend the deadline is made by the chair of the Examination Committee at the request of the candidate. Deadlines for retaking examinations can only be extended by a maximum of two semesters; otherwise the extension is a maximum of two years. The candidate must provide the relevant evidence, in particular medical certificates. If there is any doubt, it is possible to ask a doctor nominated by the university to submit a certificate. Changes to the requirements must be disclosed at the first opportunity.
- (5) One job as an elected member of committees which are prescribed by law or statutory organs of the university or Student Services for at least a year can remain uncompleted for at least one academic year when calculating the examination deadlines. A decision on this shall be made by the Rector if requested by the candidate.

§ 7 Examination Committee

- (1) The Faculty of Mathematics and Physics forms an Examination Committee for organizing examinations and performing all other tasks assigned to it by this regulation. The chair of the Examination Committee, the member representing him or her in the event of his/her absence as well as its representatives are appointed by the faculty board of the Faculty of Mathematics and Physics. The Examination Committee is made up of the following:
 - 1. three university professors or adjunct professors, providing that they are employed at the University of Stuttgart in a full-time capacity,
 - 2. a member of the scientific service,
 - 3. a student (in an advisory capacity).

Only a university professor or adjunct professor in the sense of no. 1 may lead the Examination Committee, even in a representative capacity. The business of the





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

Examination Committee is generally conducted by the chair. Furthermore, the board can delegate certain tasks to the chair on a revocable basis.

- (2) The members serve a three-year term in office, while the student members serve for one year.
- (3) The Examination Committee ensures that the provisions of this regulation are observed. It regularly reports to the faculty regarding the development of examination and study periods as well as about the allocation of overall grades. The Examination Committee must ensure that academic achievements and examinations can be carried out during the periods specified in the regulation. For this purpose, students should be informed at the appropriate time about the type and number of academic achievements and examinations to be carried out as well as the relevant deadlines to be met.
- (4) The members of the Examination Committee have the right to be present when the exams are being taken.
- (5) The members of the Examination Committee and their representatives are subject to official secrecy. If they are not public sector employees they must be sworn to secrecy by the chair.
- (6) Negative decisions by the Examination Committee or its chair must be notified to the candidate in writing with an explanation without delay, stating the legal basis and including information on the right to appeal. Appeals against this decision must be submitted to the Examination Committee in writing within a month after the decision has been announced. If the Examination Committee does not redress the appeal, it must be submitted to the Vice Rector for Teaching and Advanced Education for a decision to be made.

§ 8 Examiners and assessors

- (1) The examiners are appointed by the Examination Committee. It can delegate this job to the chair. The assessors are appointed by the examiners.
- (2) As a general rule, only university professors, honorary professors and university lecturers or Privatdozenten are authorized to hold examinations which are not related to a course, as well as such academic staff and teaching staff who have been given permission in accordance with the legal regulations. Academic staff and teaching staff can only then be appointed as assessors in exceptional cases when university teachers and university lecturers or Privatdozenten are not available to serve as examiners in sufficient numbers.
- (3) The member of the teaching staff who gave the course is usually appointed as an





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

examiner for academic achievements and course-related examinations. The Examination Committee can appoint another member of the department who is among the teaching staff of the study program as an examiner.

- (4) The assessor must have at least passed a master's examination in Physics or an exam of the same value.
- (5) § 7 Para 5 shall apply for examiners and assessors accordingly.
- (6) The examination date and the names of the examiners must be given to the persons to be examined at an appropriate time by posting it on a noticeboard or by other means. There is no legal right to be allocated a specific examiner.

§ 9 General admission requirements

- (1) A student can only be admitted to a module examination or a master's thesis if they
 - 1. have enrolled on the master's degree program in Physics at the University of Stuttgart at the time of registering for the examination,
 - 2. fulfill the subject-specific admission requirements for the specific examination,
 - 3. can demonstrate that they have fulfilled the requirements for admission to the master's thesis, providing that they have fulfilled the requirements, and
 - 4. have not lost the right to admission to examination in the master's degree program in Physics or a study program with related content at a university or equivalent higher education institution in Germany. In a related study program this only applies to the loss of right to admission to examination in examinations or modules which are also required in the master's degree program in Physics. The Examination Committee shall decide which study programs are considered to be related.
- (2) The application for admission must be submitted to the Examination Office in the required form for each module examination. Providing they are not already in the possession of the university, the following documents must be attached to the application:
 - 1. evidence of the admission requirements named in Para 1 No. 1 to 4, and
 - 2. an explanation of whether the candidate has already failed a master's examination or an examination in a study program with related content in accordance with Para 1 No 4, or whether they are currently being examined in such a course.
- (3) If it is not possible for the candidate to attach the documents in the required manner, the Examination Committee can allow for the proof to be provided in a different way on a case-by-case basis.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (4) If not all documentary evidence can be supplied when registering for examinations, the admission for examination can be granted on condition that the missing evidence is submitted after the examination date. The candidate must make sure that the missing evidence is submitted no later than when the examination is being graded.
- (5) The Examination Committee shall decide on the admission to examination. A candidate shall be considered as having been admitted to examination providing their application has not been denied within a month of submission.
- (6) Admission may only be denied when
 - 1. the requirements listed in Para 1 have not been met, or
 - 2. the documentation in accordance with Para 2 is incomplete, or
 - 3. the candidate has lost the right to admission to examination in the master's degree program in Physics or a study program with related content as per Para 1 No. 4 at a university or equivalent higher education institution in Germany or they are currently being examined in such a course.
- (7) The reporting deadlines for the examinations are announced by the Examination Office of the University of Stuttgart.

§ 10 Module examinations, academic achievements and examinations

- (1) The module examination is made up of one or many academic achievements and/or examinations.
- (2) Academic achievements include
 - 1. preliminary requirements,
 - 2. non-graded proofs of achievement,
 - 3. graded proofs of achievement
- (3) Examinations include
 - 1. written examinations,
 - 2. oral examinations,
 - 3. course-related examinations.
- (4) While examinations which do not form part of a course can be completed during a leave of absence, academic achievements and course-related examinations however cannot.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

(5) If a candidate demonstrates that they are not in a position to complete their examinations in the originally planned form, either in whole or in part, due to a long-term illness or a chronic health condition by presenting a medical certificate, the person representing the Examination Committee shall permit him or her to complete the examinations within an extended period of time or to complete examinations of the same value in a different form. The same applies for academic achievements.

§ 11 Course language

Courses are always held in English. The academic achievements and/or examinations are carried out in English.

§ 12 Academic achievements and course-related examinations

- (1) Academic achievements and course-related examinations are completed throughout the study program. They are completed either via written or oral examinations or by successfully completing an internship.
- (2) At the beginning of the semester the course lecturer must announce the expected time, form and scale of the studies or the course-related examination to all students taking the course.

§ 13 Oral examinations

- (1) In the oral examinations, the candidate should demonstrate that they have understood the fundamentals and contexts of the area to be examined and can put specific issues into a wider context.
- (2) Oral examinations which are not held as part of courses are held before an examiner in the presence of a suitably qualified assessor either as a group examination or an individual examination.
- (3) An oral examination generally lasts 20 minutes per 3 credits, between a minimum of 20 and a maximum of 60 minutes. Providing the exact length of the examination is not stipulated in the annex to these exam regulations, it is set by the Examination Committee on the suggestion of the examiner and must be stated in the module handbook. It must be announced to the students at the beginning of each semester.
- (4) The main subject matter of the oral examinations as well as the results has to be recorded in the form of a protocol, which must be signed by the examiner and the assessor. The result of the oral examination is determined by the respective examiner after consulting with the assessor, and communicated to the candidate





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

directly after the examination.

(5) Students of the same study program can take part in the oral examinations as listeners on request according to the number of places available. This participation does not cover the discussion and notification of the examination result. The public can be excluded for important reasons or if it is requested by the candidate.

§ 14 Written examinations

- (1) In written examinations, the candidate should demonstrate that they can recognize a problem and find ways to solve it using the methods of their subject in a limited time and with limited access to resources.
- (2) Written examinations which are not related to a course must be assessed by at least one examiner. They must be assessed by two examiners if the first examiner suggests a candidate be given the grade "unsatisfactory" in the event of a retake. In this case, one of the examiners must be either a university professor or an adjunct professor. The grade here is calculated using the mean of the individual assessments (§ 15 Para 2 Sentence 3). The methods of assessment should be completed within four weeks.
- (3) Written examinations last a minimum of 60 and a maximum of 120 minutes. Providing the exact length of the examination is not stipulated in the annex to these exam regulations, it is set by the Examination Committee on the suggestion of the examiner and must be stated in the module handbook. It must be announced to the students at the beginning of each semester.
- (4) Written examinations can be carried out in multiple choice format in part or in full. The respective examiners are responsible for defining and assessing the tasks. The examination tasks must make it possible to produce reliable results.

§ 15 Assessment of academic achievements and examinations, module grades

(1) Academic achievements in accordance with § 10 Para 2 No. 1 and 2 (preliminary requirements and non-graded proofs of achievement) are assessed as either "participated successfully" or "participated but without success". The former corresponds to at least a "sufficient" grade (4.0).





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (2) Examinations and graded proofs of achievement are assessed by the respective examiner using the following grading system:
- 1 = very good = an outstanding performance;
- 2 = good = a performance which is significantly above the average requirements;
- 3 = satisfactory = a performance which meets the average requirements;
- 4 = sufficient = a performance which despite its faults still meets the requirements;
- 5 = insufficient = a performance which does not meet the requirements due to significant faults.

The grades can be increased or reduced by 0.3 to enable a more differentiated assessment of the academic achievements and examinations. Grades 0.7 and 5.3 are not awarded.

Providing examinations are assessed by multiple examiners independently of one another, the grade is made up of the mean of the individual assessments; Para 3 Sentence 3 applies here accordingly.

- (3) If a module is made up of several academic achievements and/or examinations, the grade shall be calculated using the weighted average of the grades from the individual academic achievements or examinations. The weighting of the individual academic achievements or examinations is stipulated in the module handbook. Only one place after the decimal is taken into account when calculating a grade; all other places are deleted without rounding.
- (4) The module grades are as follows:

(on average) below 1.5=very good,(on average) between 1.6 and 2.5=good,(on average) between 2.6 and 3.5=satisfactory,(on average) between 3.6 and 4.0=sufficient,(on average) above 4.0=insufficient.

The module grade calculated as per Para 3 is added in parentheses.

§ 16 Absence, withdrawal, deception, breach of regulations

(1) An examination performance is considered to have been assessed as "insufficient" if the candidate misses an examination without good reason or if he or she withdraws from the examination after the beginning of the examination without good reason. The same applies when a written examination performance is not completed within the given period of time. It is possible for a candidate to withdraw from an examination for which they have already registered without giving a reason up to seven days before the set examination date. This does not apply to course-related academic achievements or to retakes, which must be taken on the next examination date.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (2) The reasons for withdrawing from an examination or for being absent must be provided to the chair of the Examination Committee and the examiner in writing at the first opportunity before the examination date. In case of illness, a medical certificate must be submitted to the chair of the Examination Committee (as a general rule within three working days) stating that the candidate is not fit to sit an examination. This certificate should state the expected length of time that the person will be unfit to sit the examination. The illness of the candidate is considered the same as the illness of a child for whom the person is overwhelmingly responsible for providing or caring for a close relative when it concerns meeting the deadlines for first registering for an examination, retaking examinations, the reasons for being absent from examinations and complying with processing times for examinations. If the chair acknowledges the reasons for being absent, the candidate must take the exam on the next examination date providing no separate deadline has been set; in this case credit must be given for module achievements which have already been completed. Otherwise, it is considered to be assessed as "insufficient" (5.0).
- (3) If a candidate has taken an examination knowing of or negligently not knowing of a valid reason to withdraw from the examination, it is not possible to withdraw retrospectively for this reason. A negligent lack of knowledge shall particularly be considered to exist if the candidate has not immediately clarified the situation if there are any indications of health problems.
- (4) If a candidate tries to influence the result of their academic achievements or examinations by cheating or by using inadmissible aids, the corresponding academic or examination performance or master's thesis is assessed as "insufficient". The sanction provided for in Sentence 1 can also be implemented if a candidate uses inadmissible aids after the task has been issued. A candidate who disrupts the orderly conduct of the examination may be excluded from continuing the academic achievement or examination by the examiner or the supervisor; in such cases the relevant academic or examination performance is assessed as "insufficient". In serious cases, the Examination Committee can exclude the candidate from completing further academic achievements or examinations.

§ 17 Passing and failing

- (1) A module examination is considered to have been passed if all examinations and graded proofs of achievement as per § 10 Para 2 No. 3 have been assessed as being at least "sufficient" (4.0) and all preliminary requirements and non-graded proofs of achievement as per § 10 Para 2 No. 1 and 2 have been passed.
- (2) The master's examination is considered to be passed if the master's thesis has been given a grade of at least "sufficient" (4.0) and the related module examinations have been passed.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (3) If the candidate has not passed a module examination or the master's thesis, a written assessment on the matter is given with information on the right to appeal, which also gives information about whether, and if so to what extent, the module examination or the master's thesis can be repeated. With module exams, candidates can also be informed about their results in a different way.
- (4) If a candidate has not passed their master's examination at the final attempt, a certificate is issued upon request to the Examination Office and presentation of the relevant evidence containing the academic achievements and examinations completed, along with the grades achieved as well as the academic achievements and examinations which are still missing in order to pass the master's examination, and acknowledging that the person has not passed the examination.

§ 18 Repeating examinations

- (1) Academic achievements and examinations which have been passed cannot be retaken.
- (2) Examinations which have not been passed or which are considered to not have been passed can be retaken once.
- (3) An exam may only be retaken for a second time for one reason. It is not permitted to retake the master's thesis twice.
- (4) If the retake of a written examination is assessed as being "insufficient" (5.0), it is followed by an oral extension shortly afterwards of 20-30 minutes in length. This does not apply in the cases of § 16 Para 1 Sentence 1 as well as Para 4 § 18 Para 5 Sentence 2. In this instance, the result of the retake, including the oral review, can only be "sufficient" (4.0) or "insufficient" (5.0). § 13 shall apply when conducting the oral review.
- (5) Retakes must be completed no later than the next examination date. Otherwise, it must be given the grade "insufficient" (5.0). This does not apply in the event of a leave of absence. The chair of the Examination Committee can approve a withdrawal from an examination as per § 16 Para 2 if there are valid reasons for doing so.

§ 19 Recognition of periods of study, academic achievements and examinations

(1) The representative of the Examination Committee is responsible for recognizing academic achievements and examinations. He or she can refer doubtful cases to the Examination Committee for a decision to be made.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

(2) Academic achievements and examinations which are completed in study programs at the University of Stuttgart or at other state or state-recognized universities and vocational universities in Germany or in study programs at state or state-recognized universities overseas are recognized, providing that they do not significantly differ from the achievements they replace in terms of the skills acquired. There is in any event no significant difference if the content, learning objectives and scope essentially correspond with the requirements of the module at the University of Stuttgart. If individual achievements required for certain academic achievements and examinations to be recognized are lacking, the Examination Committee can specify additional achievements to be completed. The help of the relevant professor may be called upon in examining the requirements mentioned above. Providing agreements and conventions between the Federal Republic of Germany and other countries on the equivalence of degrees in higher education (equivalency agreements) encourage overseas students contrary to Sentence 1, the regulations of the equivalency agreement shall apply.

The recognition can be withheld if more than half of the credits to be earned are due to be recognized from the master's examination or the master's thesis.

- (3) Para 2 shall apply accordingly for periods of study, academic achievements and examinations in state-recognized distance learning courses; Para 2 shall likewise apply for periods of study, academic achievements and examinations at other educational facilities, in particular at technical colleges and schools of engineering and officer schools in the former German Democratic Republic.
- (4) If academic achievements and examinations are recognized, the grades, providing the grading system is comparable, must be accepted and included in the evaluation matrix specified in § 16 when calculating the overall grade. If the grading system is not comparable, the word "passed" is entered. In this case, it is not included when calculating the module grades and the overall grade. Recognition of the achievement may be marked on the certificate.
- (5) If the requirements of Paras 2 and 3 are met, there is a legal entitlement to recognition. Academic achievements and examinations are recognized on request. The application must be made within two semesters of enrolling in a study program or after returning from studying abroad; applications made at a later stage are excluded. It is the responsibility of the person submitting the application to provide the required information and documents relating to the performances to be recognized. The burden of proof that an application does not meet the requirements for recognition lies with the office as per Para 1 which carries out the recognition process.
- (6) Periods of study from previous university studies are accredited according to the performances recognized. This means that placement into a certain semester is based on the extent of the performances recognized.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

II. Master's examination

§ 20 Purpose of the master's examination

The master's examination should determine whether the students have acquired the ability beyond the aims of their bachelor's degree program to independently deal with and develop scientific issues in their master's subject using relevant methods.

§ 21 Type and scope of master's examination

- (1) The master's examination consists of
 - 1. the modules listed in the annex to these exam regulations,
 - 2. the master's thesis.
- (2) As part of the master's examination, examinations can be taken in up to four modules in addition to those which are mandatory (additional modules). The result of these examinations must be included on the certificate if requested by the candidate. However, they are not taken into consideration when determining the overall grade.

§ 22 Master's thesis

- (1) The master's thesis should demonstrate that the candidate is able to perform a task in the field of Physics independently using scientific methods within a set period of time and to present the results in an appropriate manner. The master's thesis is worth 30 credits.
- (2) Any university professor, university lecturer or Privatdozent to whom the authorization to conduct examinations has been given in accordance with legal regulations is entitled to assign a master's thesis as an examiner. Prior approval from the chair of the Examination Committee is required for persons who are not part of the Faculty of Mathematics and Physics.
- (3) The topic of the master's thesis must be related to physics and its application in real life and must be of an essentially physical nature. The topic of the master's thesis cannot be issued before the student has earned at least 60 credits, and providing the student has demonstrated that they have fulfilled the requirements for admission to the master's thesis. In exceptional cases, the Examination Committee can agree to the master's thesis beginning at an earlier stage, providing that at least 45 credits have been earned.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

Work on the master's thesis must begin no more than two months after acquiring 60 credits, or an application to assign a topic must be made to the chair of the Examination Committee by the same deadline. The chair of the Examination Committee ensures that the candidate is given a topic for the master's thesis in good time. Otherwise, the master's thesis is initially assessed as being "insufficient" (5.0) unless the candidate is not responsible for missing the deadline. The decision is made at the request of the chair of the Examination Committee. After the topic has been assigned by the examiner or the chair of the Examination Committee, the candidate must register the master's thesis with the Examination Office at the first opportunity. The topic and the time when the topic was released must be recorded. The topic can only be returned once and only within the first two weeks of the processing time.

- (4) The master's thesis must be carried out at the Department of Physics at the University of Stuttgart, the Max Planck Institute for Solid State Research or the Max Planck Institute for Intelligent Systems. Exceptions to this may be approved by the Examination Committee.
- (5) The time limit for the master's thesis is 12 months. The type and scope of the task must be limited by the examiner so that the intended deadline for processing can be met. The time limit can be extended by the Examination Committee by a maximum of six weeks on request by the person to be examined for reasons which are beyond his or her control.
- (6) The master's thesis should be written in English. The master's thesis can also include multimedia components on electronic data carriers alongside a printed text, providing the topic requires it and the examiners have given their consent.
- (7) The finished master's thesis must be submitted to the supervisor in two bound copies within the time limit as per Para 5. A copy in electronic form must also be submitted. The time of submission must be recorded. When submitting the research project, the candidate must ensure in writing
 - 1. that he or she has completed the work or the part of the group work marked as such independently,
 - 2. that he or she has not used any sources other than those stated, and has marked all parts of the text taken either verbatim or in spirit from other pieces of work accordingly,
 - 3. that the piece of work submitted has not been the subject of another examination procedure, either in full or to a significant extent,
 - 4. that the work has not been published either in part or in full, and
 - 5. that the electronic version corresponds with other versions.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (8) The master's thesis is assessed by two examiners, of whom one is the person who assigned the topic in accordance with Para 2. One of the examiners must be a university professor or adjunct professor. He or she assesses the master's thesis using one of the grades listed in § 15. The grade for the master's thesis is formed from the average of the two individual assessments. The assessment process should be completed after no more than two months.
- (9) The master's thesis can be repeated once if it is given a grade of "insufficient" (5.0). If the candidate is repeating his or her master's thesis, he or she is only allowed to return the topic of the master's thesis within the period of time specified in Para 3 if the candidate has not used this option when producing their first master's thesis.

§ 23 Calculation of overall grade and certificate

- (1) The overall grade of the master's examination is made up of the average of the grades for the modules which make up the master's examination as well as the grade from the master's thesis, weighted according to the number of credits for the module or the master's thesis respectively. § 15 Para 3 and 4 shall apply to the calculation accordingly.
- (2) Outstanding performances (overall grade up to 1.2) are assessed with "Very good, with distinction".
- (3) If the candidate has passed the master's examination, he or she receives a certificate. Alongside the overall grade, the certificate also includes the individual module grades and the grade for the master's thesis. The overall grade is given to one decimal place. The certificate is signed by the chair of the Examination Committee. It bears the date when the last exam was taken. A translation of the certificate in English is issued.
- (4) The university issues a Diploma Supplement (DS), corresponding to the "Diploma Supplement Model" of the European Union/Council of Europe/UNESCO, which outlines the study program.

§ 24 Higher-education degree and master's degree certificate

(1) The title of "Master of Science" ("M.Sc.") is awarded upon passing the master's degree examination.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

- (2) At the same time as receiving the master's examination certificate, the candidate also receives a master's degree certificate bearing the same date as the examination certificate. This certifies that the degree has been awarded in accordance with Para 1. A translation of the certificate in English is also issued.
- (3) The master's degree certificate is signed by the Office of the Dean of the Faculty of Mathematics and Physics and the Rector of the University of Stuttgart, and is furnished with the seal of the university.

III. Final provisions

§ 25 Inspection of examination files

- (1) Within a year of concluding an examination procedure, the candidate can, on request and with reasonable notice, inspect their written examinations, the reviews made on them by the examiners and the official examination minutes.
- (2) An application to this effect must be submitted in writing to the chair of the Examination Committee.

§ 26 Invalidity of an examination

- (1) If the candidate has cheated in an academic or examination performance and if this only comes to light after the certificate has been issued, the grade for the academic or examination performance in which the candidate has cheated can be amended. If necessary, the module examination can be declared to be "insufficient" and the master's examination to be "not passed".
- (2) If the requirements for admission to an examination had not been met without the candidate intending to cheat in this respect, and this only comes to light after the certificate has been issued, this situation can be remedied by passing this examination. If the candidate has deliberately gained fraudulent admission to the exam, the module examination can be declared to be "insufficient" and the master's examination to be "not passed".
- (3) The candidate must be granted the opportunity to make a statement before the decision is reached.
- (4) The incorrect examination certificate must be withdrawn and a new certificate issued if appropriate. The master's degree certificate must also be withdrawn if the examination has been declared to be "not passed" due to an act of deception in the sense of Para 1. A decision pursuant to Para 1 and Para 2 Sentence 2 is excluded after a period of five years from the date on the examination certificate.





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

§ 27 Entry into force and interim regulations

- (1) These exam regulations shall enter into force on October 1, 2014. At the same time, the exam regulations for the master's degree program in Physics dated August 30, 2007 (Official Announcement No. 46/2007), last amended by the statute on the implementation of the Lisbon Convention (see § 36a LHG) in the exam regulations of the University of Stuttgart dated March 11, 2013 (Official Announcement No. 8/2013) shall be invalidated.
- (2) Students who were already enrolled on the master's degree program in Physics before these exam regulations came into effect can still finish their university studies according to the previously applicable exam regulations until September 30, 2017.

On request, these students can also continue their studies according to the new exam regulations. An irrevocable declaration to that effect must be submitted to the Examination Office by October 31, 2014.

Stuttgart, July 7, 2014

Prof. Wolfram Ressel (Rector)





Translations of the Examination Rules are not legally binding and serve the solemn purpose of offering comprehensive assistance for international students.

Annex: Overview of module examinations

N	Module	Comp	S	Semeste			Acade	Exami	Credits
ο.		ulsory	r	r			mic	nation/	
		/electi	1	2	3	4	achieve	duratio	
		ve					ment	n	
1	Advanced Experimental	С	X				Р	EP	9
	Physics								
2	Advanced Quantum Theory	С	X				Р	EP	9
3	Advanced Condensed Matter	С		>			Р	EP	6
4	Seminars in Physics	С	X				NGC		3
5	Advanced Seminar in Physics			>			GC		3
6	Advanced Physics Lab	С	X	>			NGC		12
7	Elective lecture 1	Е	X	>			Р	EP	9
8	Elective lecture 2	Е		>			Р	EP	9
9	Scientific Specialization**	С			X	X		CRE	15
10	Practical Skills and Project	С			X	X		CRE	15
	Planning**								
11	Master's thesis**	С			>	X		EP	30

^{**} Modules 9, 10 and 11 must be reported to the Examination Office at the same time and should be supervised by the same examiner.

Notes:

- 1. Explanation of abbreviations:
 - C = compulsory module; E = elective
 - P = preliminary requirement; NGC = non-graded coursework; GC = graded coursework
 - EP = examination performance; W = written examination; O = oral examination;
 - CRE = course-related examination
- 2. The semesters in which the module should be taken are marked by an "x".
- 3. If only "EP" is stated in the "examination/duration" column or the duration of the examination is not specified, the type and scope of the examination must be specified in the module handbook.
- 4. If "CRE" is stated in the "examination/duration" column, the type and scope of the examination is disclosed by the teachers at the start of the semester.
- 5. The semesters in which the module should be taken are marked by an "x".
- 6. Two compulsory modules must be taken as part of the master's degree program. The offer of compulsory electives which may be chosen is different for each academic year, and is set by the committee on student affairs and teaching and announced to the students in the module handbook shortly before the beginning of each academic year.